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     The Memorial Road Synagogue, Kimberley (consecrated 1902) 

Read the History ï and take a Tour (updated October 2023) 

This iconic Synagogue building has stood in Memorial Road, Kimberley ï and been in constant use as a 
house of Jewish prayer since 1902. It was built on land donated by De Beers Consolidated Mines, with 
which many prominent community members were closely associated. Below, in the postcard of óMonument 
Roadô, we see the synagogue shortly after its construction in splendid isolation. The road was not yet 
tarred, and few other buildings exist. The Boer War had just ended, so probably no ómemorialô was yet in 
place.  (The óMonument to the Honoured Dead of the Siege of Kimberleyô, below right, was consecrated 
only in 1904. It is built of sandstone quarried in Rhodesia, now Zimbabwe and is the tomb of 27 soldiers.) 
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This synagogue building replaced a previous synagogue (of which no trace remains) that was consecrated 

in 1876 (hardly five years from when diamonds were first discovered in the dry diggings of Kimberley). Rev 

Harris Isaacs, who served as minister to Kimberley for 33 years between 1890 and 1927, explained in an 

interview with the London Jewish Chronicle in 1912, that the Griqualand West Hebrew Congregation had 

been established in 1873. They had used a hired hall until 1875, when work began on the first synagogue 

in Kimberley. It was situated in Dutoitspan Road roughly where Cecil John Rhodes statue now stands. The 

site was donated by a mining company in which the Jews, Louis Hond and the Lilienfeld brothers were 

directors. Like all buildings in Kimberley at the time, it was constructed of wood and corrugated iron.  

The Cornerstone for this very first synagogue was laid with all due pomp and ceremony on 23 August 1875 

by Mrs C Sonnenberg, wife of the first president of the congregation. The event was attended by many 

Christian friends amongst them civic dignitaries such as Sir Henry Barkly (Governor of the Cape Colony) 

and Sir Richard Southey (Administrator of the Diamond Fields). It was designed to hold 250 people. When 

it was consecrated on 17 September 1876, it was already too small. (There were about 1400 Jewish souls 

in Kimberley during its existence, 600 of them adult males.) This first synagogue no longer exists, and there 

are no photographs of it. The site was subsequently, sold in 1903 ï for a high price ï to Alfred Beit, who 

bought it for De Beers to erect a statue of Rhodes who had died 

in March of that year. 

As the community had grown stronger ï and richer, many of the 

diamond moguls got together to design and build an appropriate 

place of worship, replacing their first inadequate house of prayer. 

The person who undertook to deliver the new building was 

Gustave Bonas JP (right). He represented a firm of diamond 

merchants in Europe that was part of the original syndicate that 

bought up all the stones from the Kimberley mines. He, and Col 

Sir David Harris, both associated with De Beers Consolidated 

Mining Co, were for many years, alternate Presidents of the 

Congregation.  

They invited Kimberleyôs finest architect DW Greatbatch to 

design it, apparently based on designs in Byzantine style drawn 

up by Cape Town architect Edward Simkin.  

Construction (below) commenced immediately after the relief of Kimberley in 1900, while the Boer War 

was still raging, as a thanks 

offering that its inhabitants had 

been spared. Every bit of 

timber and all other materials 

for the erection bear the stamp 

of the military authorities. On 

several occasions, building 

operations were obliged to 

cease owing to the difficulty of 

getting the military to pass 

certain materials. Weeks, and 

sometimes months elapsed on 

this account before work could 

be resumed.  
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In 1901 the cornerstone of the grand new synagogue was laid by Gustave H Bonas JP. It was said that óIt 

was in great measure, due to 

Bonasôs exertions, that the Jews 

of Kimberley are erecting such a 

splendid house of prayer in one 

of the best parts of townô. He, as 

President of the Congregation 

was certainly one of the two main 

driving forces behind the project; 

the other being David Harris, the 

treasurer. The site in Memorial 

Road was given by De Beers 

Bonas was said to be one of the 

ómost popular citizens of 

Diamondopolisô. A Londoner, 

educated in Dublin, he came to 

South Africa in 1884 as a 

diamond merchant. Upon the amalgamation of the diamond mines, he became a member of the powerful 

Diamond Syndicate which purchased the whole of the product of the De Beers Company, approximated at 

six million pounds per annum.  

He was also an enthusiastic sportsman. He instituted and supported the sporting club and the race-course 

and owned several winning horses. In addition, Bonas was the chairman of the Diamond Fields Advertiser, 

a director of the Theatre Royal and several other institutions in the town as well as  a member of the 

Divisional Council. He loved 

entertaining and was socially very 

popular. In 1892 he was made a 

Justice of the Peace. We clearly 

have Gustave Bonas to thank for 

this beautiful Memorial Road 

Synagogue.   

You can read more about Gustave 

Bonas himself, and his own 

beautiful house óLilianvilleô, no 10 

Lodge Road (right) which he had 

also commissioned from the 

celebrated Kimberley architect, DW 

Greatbatch, on the óPioneersô page. 

Gustave Bonas 

Bonas appears to have suddenly 

left Kimberley for good. He sold his house that same year, 1902 to department store owner, John Orr, with 

all its furniture, fixtures and fittings (some of which still remain in the house). Itôs a mystery why  this person 

so connected with Kimberley and the Jewish community left the city and never returned. (The Bonas family 

to this day is still involved in the diamond business.) John Orr re-named the house óDunluceô after a village 

in Northern Ireland. Today after all his family have died, this landmark building belongs to the McGregor 

Museum.  

http://kehilalinks.jewishgen.org/kimberley/Gustav_Bonas.html
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The Memorial Road Synagogue opens for Rosh Hashanah 1902 (very early pictures) 
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Gustav Bonas, president of the Griqualand West Hebrew Congregation, declared the building open on 14 

September 1902, and was presented with a golden key as a souvenir of the occasion. A service of 

consecration then took place conducted by Reverend Harris Isaacs. The procession passed round the 

building seven times with members of the clergy bearing the Scrolls of the Law. After the sermon by Harris 

Isaacs, the ceremony concluded with prayers for King Edward VII and the Royal Family, a prayer of 

consecration and the national anthem, God Save the King.   

The Memorial Road Synagogue was first used for the High 

Holyday services in September 1902. It is generally considered 

the most attractive shul in the country and perhaps one of the 

finest synagogues, architecturally, in the world.   

One month later, the Griqualand West Hebrew Congregation 

together with all its kindred 

societies and residents of the 

district presented Gustave 

Henry Bonas Esq, with a silver 

replica of the synagogue, (left) 

inscribed (below) óas a memento 

of his untiring energy in regard 

to the erection of the new 

synagogue in Kimberley ï and 

as a token of their high esteem 

and regard in which he is held by the community after years of service as 

President of the Congregation. Kimberley South Africa. October 1902. 

Above 

Right is 

the 

presentation cabinet in Kimberley shul 

which is now empty. After an exciting life of 

being stolen twice ï the silver replica is 

now safely housed at the South African 

Jewish Museum in Cape Town.  

 

In these pictures of the Memorial Road Synagogue from the 1920s 1950s and the 2000s, the palm trees 

planted in the 1920s have grown ï perhaps hiding some of the glory of the architecture)    
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Here is how Jono David, one of the wonderful photographers on the website described the building:  

óThe octagonal house of worship was completed in September 1902 and features prominent front 

turret-like stairwells, complementing spires, and interlaid zipper-like stonework at the corners. Itôs 

a cross between an English castle, a French chateauéand a synagogue. óInside, all eyes are drawn 

to what is surely one of the most comely of Aron Hakodeshes in all the Jewish world. It seems to 

tower above the eight folds of the ceiling, if that were possible, capped by gorgeous domes which 

give the holy ark a notably spiritual aura. From a photographic point of view, a synagogue like this 

one is fun to photograph because there are many nooks and crannies and unexpected angles.ô  

 

Let us take you on a tour of this lovely synagogue building  
Many of us have been privileged to have attened services here during our childhoods. This tour is with 

grateful thanks to photographers, Shawn Benjamin, David Jawno, Alon Berman, Marvin Cohen and Colin 

Bloch, whose beautiful photographs adorn these pages ï and the website.  

We start at the silver gates at the end of the semi-circular welcoming 

entrance éé  

The Vestibule On entering the large oak double doors topped with a 

semicirular stained glass window we enter the beautifully tiled vestibule. 


